No. S273630

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KRISTINA RAINES ET AL., Plaintiffs & Petitioners,

v.

U.S. HEALTHWORKS MEDICAL GROUP ET AL., Defendants & Respondents.

Upon Certification Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548, to Decide a Question of Law Presented in a Matter Pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit – Case No. 21-55229

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

R. Scott Erlewine (SBN 95106) Brian S. Conlon (SBN 303456) Kyle P. O'Malley (SBN 330184) Phillips, Erlewine, Given & Carlin LLP 39 Mesa Street, Suite 201 San Francisco, CA 94129 (415) 398-0900 rse@phillaw.com bsc@phillaw.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.548, this Court granted the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit's request to answer the following question:

Does California's Fair Employment and Housing Act, which defines "employer" to include "any person acting as an agent of an employer," Cal. Gov't Code § 12926(d), permit a business entity acting as an agent of an employer to be held directly liable for employment discrimination?

INTRODUCTION

The Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA"), Government Code section 12926, subdivision (d), defines "employer" to include "any person acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly." (Gov. Code, § 12926, subd. (d).) In *Reno v. Baird* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640, this Court created a narrow exception to this definition for individual supervisory employees acting as agents of their employer in discrimination cases.

The Court recognized this exception to avoid the absurd consequences of finding an individual supervisor liable but not a business with less than five employees. (*Reno, supra,* 18 Cal.4th at p. 650-51 & n. 3; *see also Jones v. Torrey Pines* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1158 [extending *Reno* to retaliation claims].) As to other contexts, the Court "specifically express[ed] no opinion on whether the 'agent' language merely incorporates respondent superior principles or has some other meaning." (*Reno,* 18 Cal.4th at p. 658.) That reserved question is now squarely before the Court.

This Court should answer "yes" to that question. Under the plain language of Government Code section 12926, subdivision (d), a business entity acting as an agent of an employer is an "employer" under FEHA. It should therefore be liable if it violates FEHA's prohibitions.

This conclusion is both compelled by the statutory language and consistent with the public policies underlying FEHA, including the Legislature's express command that FEHA "be construed liberally" in furtherance of its remedial purposes. (Gov. Code, § 12993, subd. (a).) It is consistent with analogous (and less protective) federal law. It creates none of the illogical or absurd results that concerned this Court in *Reno*. It also furthers the general public policy undergirding the common law of holding wrongdoers liable for their own malfeasance, even when acting as agents for others.

The facts here demonstrate particularly clearly why it is important to hold corporate agents liable under FEHA. Defendants perform blatantly unlawful and invasive preemployment medical examinations for thousands of employers across the State. Correction of that misconduct at the point at which it occurs is manifestly a more effective way to enforce FEHA than requiring that each of Defendants' thousands of customers be sued for Defendants' actions.

The Court should apply FEHA's plain language and answer the certified question in the affirmative.

I. FEHA PROTECTS JOB APPLICANTS FROM IRRELEVANT MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

Under FEHA, any pre-employment medical examination must be "job-related and consistent with business necessity." (Gov. Code, § 12940, subd. (e). All future statutory references are to the Government Code unless otherwise indicated.) This limiting provision ensures "that no Californians are denied the opportunity to prove themselves at jobs they are capable of doing just because of assumptions made on the basis of their medical history;" to protect the "dignity and self-reliance" of people with disabilities; and to build on "this state's long history of strong protections for the privacy rights of Californians." (*Sen. Com. On Judiciary*, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2222 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) as amended July 6, 2000, pp. 6-7 [hereafter "*Senate Analysis*"]; *see also Assem. Com. On Lab. And Emp.*, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2222 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 5, 2000, p. 4 [hereafter "Assembly Analysis"].)

The purpose of these examinations is to assess whether the applicant is presently able to do the specific job in question and to facilitate the required good faith, interactive process between applicant and employer to determine whether a reasonable accommodation is necessary. (*See Assembly Analysis* at pp. 1, 4.) An inquiry is job-related if it is "tailored to assess the employee's ability to carry out the essential functions of the job or to determine whether the employee poses a danger to the employee or others due to disability." (*Kao v. Univ. of S.F.* (2014) 229

Cal.App.4th 437, 451 [quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 11065(k)].) An inquiry is consistent with business necessity if "the need for the disability inquiry or medical examination is vital to the business." (*Id.* at p. 452 [quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 11065(b)].)

Untailored inquiries and examinations violate section 12940, subdivision (e), and constitute discrimination under section 12940, subdivision (d). (*See, e.g., Rodriguez v. Walt Disney* (C.D. Cal. June 14, 2018) No. 8:17-CV-01314-JLS, 2018 WL 3201853, at *3; *Senate Analysis* at pp. 6-7.)

II. DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS IS DESIGNED TO VIOLATE FEHA'S LIMIT ON MEDICAL INQUIRIES

Historically, employers conducted applicant fitness-forwork screenings themselves through an in-house "company doctor." (ER-69.) Over the years, however, employers began outsourcing these screenings to third parties—so-called "occupational healthcare providers" such as Defendant U.S. Healthworks Medical Group. (ER-69.)

Between its founding and its acquisition and re-branding by the Concentra defendants named in the operative pleading, U.S. Healthworks became the nation's second largest provider of occupational health services and the largest in California, owning and operating seventy-eight medical centers in the State.¹ (ER-68–69.)

During the relevant four-year period, thousands of employers required more than half a million job applicants to undergo and pass screenings at Defendants' California facilities as a condition of employment. (ER-11, 70–71.) These screenings were mandatory and applicants had no say in the administrator of the screening. (ER-71.) Defendants conducted over 200,000 of these screenings annually in California. (ER-69–70.)

While employers could choose to provide certain screening protocols to Defendants (*e.g.*, by specifying "lifting restrictions"), Defendants required every applicant, at the outset of the screening and regardless of job position, to complete in full an omnibus Health History Questionnaire (the "Questionnaire") of Defendants' own design and creation. (ER-35–36, 71, 75.)

The Questionnaire asked numerous discriminatory, invasive, and non-job-related questions. (ER-57, 74.) These included, for example, whether the applicant has or has *ever* had:

¹ The Concentra defendants were at all relevant times the nation's largest provider of occupational and urgent care centers, with over 1,200 medical centers nationally, and together are the successor in interest to U.S. Healthworks. (ER-69.) Each such defendant is alleged to have engaged in the same conduct, and together with U.S. Healthworks, are collectively referred to as "Defendants." The parent entity of the Concentra defendants, Select Medical Holdings, is publicly traded and has a market cap of over \$3.1 billion. (*See* Bloomberg US, *Stock Quote: SEM* (May 25, 2022) ">https://www.bloomberg.com/quote/SEM:US>">https://www.bloomberg.com/quote/SEM:US> [as of May 25, 2022].)

(1) venereal disease; (2) painful or irregular vaginal discharge or pain; (3) problems with menstrual periods; (4) irregular menstrual period; (5); penile discharge, prostate problems, genital pain or masses; (6) cancer; (7) mental illness; (8) HIV; (9) permanent disabilities; (10) painful/frequent urination; (11) hair loss; (12) hemorrhoids; (13) diarrhea; (14) black stool; (15) constipation; (16) tumors; (17) organ transplant; (18) stroke; or (19) a history of tobacco or alcohol use. (ER-57, 74, 85-86.) The Questionnaire also asked about (20) pregnancy, (21) the date of a woman's last menstrual period (22) all over-the-counter and prescribed medication, and (23) prior on-the-job injuries or illnesses. (ER-57, 74.) In effect, the Questionnaire was so broad that it required applicants to disclose their entire personal medical and disability history from birth to present. (ER-57, 75.)

In violation of FEHA, many of these questions were unrelated to any potential employee's ability to perform any job and inconsistent with business necessity for any business. (ER-75.) In further violation of the statute, when an applicant provided a positive response to any written question on the Questionnaire, Defendants' policy and practice was to verbally probe the applicant to explain their response. (ER-74.) Defendants treated no medical topic as out-of-bounds. (ER-37–38, 75.)

Referring employers did not develop the Questionnaire and did not require that applicants complete it. To the contrary, Defendants were solely responsible for (1) creating the Questionnaire; (2) implementing the Questionnaire; (3) the policy

requiring all applicants to answer every question it posed; and (4) all verbal follow-up questions. (ER-71–72, 73–75.)

If an applicant failed or refused to fully answer every question—no matter why—Defendants would not "pass" the applicant, resulting in denial of employment. (ER-70–71, 75, 86.) In this, referring employers effectively delegated to Defendants the decision either to permit or deny employment. (ER-70.)

Defendants also required all applicants to sign an unlawful form titled "Authorization to Disclose Protected Health Information to Employer" (the "Authorization") purporting to authorize Defendants to disclose applicants' protected health information to their prospective employers and to unspecified others. (ER-71, 74.) This Authorization was coerced, threatening applicants that "refusal to sign" "may violate a condition of [] employment" and that "revocation of this authorization may carry consequences related to [their] employment." (ER-71, 74– 75.)

III. DEFENDANTS SUBJECTED PLAINTIFFS TO EXAMINATIONS THAT VIOLATED FEHA

Plaintiff Kristina Raines applied for a job as a food service aide at a California retirement community managed by Front Porch Communities. (ER-76.) Her job duties were to consist of delivering food trays to residents; cleaning, disposing of waste, and washing dishes; re-stocking food supplies; and the like. (*Ibid.*) Front Porch offered her the job conditioned on passing Defendants' pre-employment medical screening at their Carlsbad, California facility. (*Ibid.*) During the required screening, Defendants' staff directed Raines to fill out the Questionnaire and to sign the Authorization. (ER-76.) She signed the Authorization and answered all of the questions on the Questionnaire and all subsequent verbal questions—save for any questions about the date of her last menstrual period. (ER-77.) She objected on the grounds that the date of her last menstrual period had nothing to do with the job Front Porch offered her and that the question sought particularly private information. (ER-77.)

Defendants' staff threatened Raines by stating that she would not "pass" the screening or be permitted to start work unless she answered all of their questions. (ER-77.) When she again declined, consistent with their policy, Defendants terminated and refused to administer the remainder of the screening and forced her to leave. (*Ibid.*) Shortly thereafter, Front Porch revoked the job offer because Defendants' staff informed it that Raines did not complete the screening. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiff Darrick Figg applied for a job as a member of the San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District's Volunteer Communication Reserve. (ER-77.) The Fire Protection District offered Figg the job but conditioned his employment on passing a pre-employment medical screening at one of Defendants' California facilities. (*Ibid.*) Like Raines, Figg was required to complete the entire Questionnaire and to sign the Authorization. (ER-77–78.) He complied, despite most of the questions having no bearing on his ability to do the job in question. (ER-78.) As a result, Defendants deemed him "medically acceptable for the position offered" and, because he "passed" the screening, Figg was allowed to begin work. (*Ibid.*)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Raines filed an individual action against Front Porch and U.S. Healthworks in the San Diego Superior Court. (ER-68.) She later substituted Concentra defendants for Doe defendants. (*Ibid.*)

Following discovery revealing that Defendants asked the questions on its Questionnaire to all referred California jobseekers, Raines amended her complaint to assert class claims for impermissible medical inquiries under FEHA; discrimination under the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 51 *et seq.*; intrusion upon seclusion; and violations of the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 *et seq.* ("UCL"). (ER-68.)

Defendants then removed the action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California under the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). (ER-113.) Raines filed a Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") adding Figg as a plaintiff, dismissing Front Porch as a defendant pursuant to a settlement, and adding additional Concentra defendants. (ER-108.)

The district court granted Defendants' Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the SAC with leave to amend. (ER-98, 107.) Plaintiffs filed the operative Third Amended Complaint ("TAC"), asserting the same causes of action with additional facts. (ER-69–94.)

On Defendants' motion to dismiss the TAC, the district court dismissed all claims without leave to amend except the UCL claim for which leave to amend was allowed. (ER-21.) While the district court accepted Plaintiffs' agency allegations as wellpled, it concluded as a matter of law that because individual supervisory employees are not personally liable under FEHA for discrimination and retaliation, citing *Reno* and *Jones*, all agents are immune. (ER-7–12.)

Plaintiffs then filed an *ex parte* application to dismiss the UCL claim with prejudice pursuant to *WMX Techs. v. Miller* (9th Cir. 1997) 104 F.3d 1133, 1136-37, and appealed the district court's order dismissing the TAC's three remaining causes of action. (ER-22–23, 24–25, 99–100.) Following briefing and argument, the Ninth Circuit requested certification of the question of law set forth above. (*Raines v. U.S. Healthworks* (9th Cir. 2022) 28 F.4th 968.)

In its request, the Ninth Circuit noted that "millions of employees [] could be impacted by a decision defining the scope of liability for business entities acting as agents of their employers." (*Raines, supra*, 28 F.4th at p. 971.) While acknowledging that (1) FEHA's text "appears to encompass direct liability for any individual or business entity acting as an agent of an employer" and (2) the Legislature "instructs courts to construe its provisions 'liberally' in accordance with its broad remedial purposes," the Ninth Circuit felt it "unclear whether the Legislature intended FEHA's definition of 'employer' to create direct liability" in these circumstances. (*Ibid.*)

For the reasons that follow, the answer to the Ninth Circuit's question is unequivocally "yes." A business entity is directly liable under FEHA when it acts as an agent of an employer and engages in conduct prohibited by FEHA. The reasoning this Court adopted in *Reno* and *Jones*—creating an exception to that liability for individual supervisory employees poses no barrier to that logical and reasonable interpretation of the statute.

ARGUMENT

I. FEHA HOLDS AGENTS LIABLE FOR THEIR DISCRIMINATORY ACTIONS ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYERS

A. FEHA Unambiguously Treats an Employer's Agents as Employers and Thus Makes Them Liable

FEHA prohibits an employer from conducting any preemployment medical examinations or inquiries unless they are "job-related and consistent with business necessity." (§ 12940, subd. (e).)

FEHA defines "employer" as "any person regularly employing five or more persons, or any person acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly." (§ 12926, subd. (d).) It excludes "a religious association or corporation not organized for private profit." (*Ibid*.) Thus, the plain text of FEHA treats the direct and indirect agents of an employer as themselves employers. FEHA's implementing regulations further emphasize this point. (*See* Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 11008(d)(3) ["Any person or individual acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly, is also an employer."].) As such, the plain language of the statute makes corporate agents like Defendants liable for their own violations of FEHA.

Where statutory language is unambiguous, there is no need for additional judicial construction. (*Los Angeles MTA v. Alameda Produce* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1100, 1107.) While the judicial role in all cases is to give effect to the Legislature's intent, whenever reasonably possible courts must avoid reading statutes in a way that renders meaningless language the Legislature has chosen to enact. (*People v. Fontenot* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 57, 73.)

Particularly in cases like this—involving clear but broad remedial legislation and an express legislative command to construe it liberally—the statute must be read to heed that command. "Wherever the meaning is doubtful, it must be so construed as to extend the remedy." (*Wittenburg v. Beachwalk HOA* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 654, 666 [citing People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation v. Muller (1984) 36 Cal.3d 263, 269].)

Unlike for individual supervisors, there is no "incongruity" (*Reno*, *supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 650-51) embedded in the pertinent statutory language shielding corporate agents from liability. This Court should adopt the plain language meaning as it pertains to

corporate agents and hold them directly liable for employment discrimination.

B. No Extrinsic Factor Supports Disregarding the Plain Meaning of FEHA or Ignoring the Legislative Command to Interpret It Broadly

This Court need not look beyond the plain language of FEHA. Courts may only disregard plain language when it is repugnant to the general purview of the statute, it would lead to absurd consequences, or there is some other compelling reason to do so. (See People v. Leal (2004) 33 Cal.4th 999, 1008; People v. Hernandez (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 94, 106; see also Unzueta v. Ocean View School Dist. (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1689, 1698, reh'g denied and opinion modified (June 26, 1992) [abandoning plain meaning to avoid absurd consequences should be done "most sparingly [] and only in extreme cases else we violate the separation of powers principle of government"]; Cal. Const., art. III, § 3.)

The Attorney General, entrusted with constitutional authority to enforce FEHA, agrees: "FEHA's statutory language defining 'employer' is clear, and its plain meaning therefore controls." (*See* Amicus Brief of the Attorney General in *Raines*, *supra*, 2021 WL 2604301 (C.A.9), at *2, 7; Cal. Const., art. V, § 13.) "While the judiciary is the final authority, considerable weight is accorded to an executive department's construction of a statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer." (*In re Israel O*. (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 279, 289 [cleaned up].) The Court should only consider veering from the plain meaning of the statute where there is ambiguity by virtue of some "extrinsic factor." (*See State Farm v. Lara* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 197, 218-19.) These "extrinsic factors" include "the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." (*Hoechst Celanese v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 508, 519.)

For all the reasons discussed below, these factors fully support Plaintiffs' reading of the pertinent statutory provisions and the Legislature's clear intent on the subject.

1. Public Policy Supports Corporate Agent Liability

If the Court were to look beyond the plain language of section 12926, subdivision (d), it should conclude that FEHA's public policy supports the plain language meaning. Holding corporate agents responsible for their own unlawful practices furthers the animating purpose of FEHA "to provide effective remedies that will eliminate [] discriminatory practices." (§ 12920.)

Corporate agents like Defendants often ply their services to numerous (here thousands) of employers impacting thousands (here hundreds of thousands) of applicants and employees. The purpose of FEHA is served by holding these actors liable and undermined by immunizing them. Insulating them spreads risk in a way that makes it harder to eliminate discriminatory practices in California.

While the reasons for holding corporate agents liable for FEHA violations may vary by context, the specific context here illustrates starkly why those agents should be liable for their actions:

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