No. S273630

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Kristina Raines; Darrick Figg, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

vs.

U.S. HEALTHWORKS MEDICAL GROUP, a corporation; SELECT MEDICAL HOLDINGS CORPORATION, a corporation; CONCENTRA GROUP HOLDINGS LLC, a corporation; US HEALTHWORKS, INC., a corporation; SELECT MEDICAL
CORPORATION, a corporation; CONCENTRA INC., a corporation; CONCENTRA PRIMARY CARE OF CALIFORNIA, a medical corporation; OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS OF
CALIFORNIA, a medical corporation; DOES 4 & 8-10, inclusive, Defendants, Appellees and Respondents.

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature designed the FEHA to impose duties and liabilities on employers, as distinct from those who work for or provide services to employers. The FEHA language that defines a "person" includes individuals as well as business entities, without distinguishing among the individuals or entities that fall under the definition of "person." Accordingly, the FEHA language that defines an "employer" to include "any person acting as an agent of an employer" codifies the doctrine of *respondeat superior* and thereby assures that an employer is liable for its agent's conduct. The Legislature did not intend that language to impose employment discrimination liability not only on the employer, who indisputably is liable for its agent's conduct, but also on an agent that never employed the plaintiff.

To hold otherwise would invert the principle of vicarious liability in a way that confounds settled law. The feature that defines an agency relationship is the principal's control over the agent. From that feature, our law has developed settled rules that recognize that an agent's duty is to its principal, not a third party, and that an employer's duties are non-delegable. Thus, a court may hold an employer liable for actions of the employer's entity-agents because the employer can control those actions and prevent their occurrence or direct that they occur in a lawful manner. By contrast, an agent cannot control the principal's actions. There is no indication the Legislature intended to upend settled agency law to hold directly liable for *employment* discrimination agents who do not control *employment* decisions.

In addition to the medical services at issue here, employers retain entities as agents for countless activities, including

-8-

businesses that provide transportation, food, hospitality, legal, accounting, courier and other services. Yet, in the decades since this Court held in *Reno v. Baird* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 640 (*Reno*) that the identical FEHA language did not permit direct employment discrimination liability against agents who are individuals, the Legislature has not amended the FEHA to differentiate entity agents from individual agents. Thus, a ruling imposing entity-agent direct liability would be a dramatic expansion of the law, one that could affect "millions." (*Raines v. U.S. Healthworks* (9th Cir. 2022) 28 F.4th 968, 971.)

There are sound reasons to leave any such expansion to the Legislature. On one hand, the FEHA already makes an employer liable for an entity-agent's conduct, so there is no need for a redundant cause of action against agents. On the other hand, the implications of exposing agents to direct employment liability are troubling—given that an agent, by definition, acts under the employer's control, but does not control the employer's decisions. Given the lack of any clear indication that the Legislature intended to upend settled California law, the better approach to the certified question would heed the Hippocratic Oath: "first, do no harm." This Court should hold that the FEHA does not permit

-9-

such liability for any "person"—individual or business entity agent—unless the Legislature clarifies the statute to make any such intention explicit.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE A. Relevant FEHA Provisions

Government Code section 12940 states:

[A]n *employer or employment agency* may inquire into the ability of an applicant to perform job-related functions and may respond to an applicant's request for reasonable accommodation.

(Gov. Code, § 12940, subd. (e)(2), emphasis added.)

The statute further provides:

[A]n *employer or employment agency* may require a medical or psychological examination <u>or</u> make a medical or psychological inquiry of a job applicant after an employment offer has been made but prior to the commencement of employment duties, provided that the examination or inquiry is job related and consistent with business necessity and that all entering employees in the same job classification are subject to the same examination or inquiry.

(Gov. Code, § 12940, subd. (e)(3), emphasis added.)

FEHA states an "employer" is "any person regularly employing five or more persons, or any person acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly." (Gov. Code, § 12926, subd. (d).) FEHA defines a "person" as "one or more individuals, partnerships, associations, corporations, limited liability companies, legal representatives, trustees, trustees in bankruptcy, and receivers or other fiduciaries." (Gov't Code, § 12925, subd. (d).)

Thus, the FEHA defines "any person acting as an agent of an employer" to include individuals, businesses and similar agents, without drawing any distinction between individuals, businesses or any other type of agent.

B. Plaintiffs' Allegations Regarding the Pre-Employment, Post-Job-Offer ("PEPO") Exams that Employers Retained USHW to Perform

U.S. HealthWorks Medical Group ("USHW") operated urgent care centers in California.¹ (ER-68, ¶ 22.) It also worked with other businesses to provide occupational health care,

¹ Although defendants dispute plaintiffs' allegations, because this proceeding arises from a dismissal on the pleadings, defendants recite the facts as plaintiffs have alleged them consistent with the applicable standard of review and without waiver or acceptance of those facts for purposes other than pleadings-based challenges.

including pre-employment, post-job-offer medical exams ("PEPO Exams"). (ER-69-70, ¶¶ 26, 28.) Businesses and governmental entities required individuals who received offers of employment from those entities to obtain PEPO Exams that USHW administered. (ER-69, ¶ 27.) Many individuals—like Plaintiff Raines—are required by law to undergo medical examinations that include a medical history inquiry. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 72535 [Employees' Health Examination and Health Record - "All employees working in the facility, including the licensee, shall have a health examination within 90 days prior to employment or within seven days after employment and at least annually thereafter by a person lawfully authorized to perform such a procedure. Each such examination shall include a medical history and physical evaluation."].)

The employers paid for the exam and advised USHW that the purpose for the exam was to determine whether the applicant could perform the job. (ER-70-71, ¶ 31 a-c.) "The referring employers also had the right to control USHW in how it conducted the pre-placement medical exams." (ER-71, ¶ 32.)

By sending their putative employees to an outside provider of medical services, the employers assured that the examination

-12-

would occur in a confidential and private setting medical setting, rather than in the workplace.

In connection with the PEPO Exams, USHW asked patients to complete a standardized form titled "Health History Questionnaire" ("Questionnaire"). (ER-73-74, ¶¶ 36-37.) It also asked patients to sign a form titled "Authorization to Disclose Protected Health Information to Employer" ("Authorization") so it could report results of the PEPO Exams. (ER-74-75, ¶ 41.)

"After completing each exam, USHW filled out and sent to the employer a 'medical examiner recommendation form' stating either that the applicant is 1) 'medically acceptable for the position offered,' 2) 'medically acceptable for the position offered, except that a condition exists which limits work [and specifies],' 3) 'Placed on medical hold pending [further investigation]' or 4) 'Other' [and specifies]." (ER-70, ¶ 31a.) Beyond these job-related and business necessity statements, there are no allegations that USHW reported to employers any information that USHW's patients furnished to USHW on the Questionnaire.

USHW operates as "a third-party vendor providing services" and it led patients to believe it acted as their "own physician." (ER-84, ¶ 85.) If a patient "provided a positive

-13-

response to any of the inquiries contained in the

[Questionnaire]," USHW would have a "medical examiner verbally ask the [patient] to explain the basis for the positive responses." (ER-74, \P 40.) "In conducting the pre-placement exams, USHW considered whether the applicant's future health may be at risk in taking the job. USHW clinicians would attempt to dissuade applicants from taking the job where the clinician thought the job could be potentially hazardous to the applicant's future health even though it would not impact his or her ability to currently perform the essential job functions (such as where the applicant [smoked] and would be working with asbestos creating a heightened chance of developing lung cancer or where a pregnant woman would be working with silica which could increase her exposure to cancer but did not impact her current ability to do the job)." (ER-73, \P 34(d).)

In other words, USHW not only evaluated whether the patient could carry out the job's essential function or whether the patient poses a danger to others due to disability, but also acted in the best interests of its patient by screening for and assessing future health risks. Simply put, USHW acted as a medical professional, not an employer.

-14-

C. Plaintiffs' Allegations Regarding their PEPO Exams

Plaintiffs received employment offers from two different companies: Front Porch Communities and Services ("Front Porch") and San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District ("San Ramon"). (ER-76, ¶¶ 48-49; ER-77, ¶ 57.) Those employers, and laws governing the employers, required Plaintiffs to receive PEPO Exams from USHW as a condition of employment. (*Id.*; see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 72535 [mandating health examination for those in skilled nursing facilities like Front Porch].) Plaintiffs do not allege USHW required them to undergo the PEPO Exams. (ER-77-78, ¶¶ 52, 58.)

As part of the PEPO Exams, Plaintiffs completed the Questionnaire and the Authorization. (ER-76, ¶ 50; ER-77-78, ¶ 58.) USHW asked verbal follow-up questions related to the Questionnaire. (ER-77, ¶ 52; ER-78, ¶ 60.)

The Questionnaire includes questions about (1) venereal disease; (2) painful or irregular vaginal discharge or pain; (3) problems with menstrual periods; (4) irregular menstrual period; (5); penile discharge, prostate problems, genital pain or masses; (6) cancer; (7) mental illness; (8) HIV; (9) permanent disabilities; (10) painful/frequent urination; (11) hair loss; (12) hemorrhoids;

-15-

(13) diarrhea; (14) black stool; (15) constipation; (16) tumors; (17) organ transplant; (18) stroke; and (19) history of tobacco or alcohol use. (ER-74, ¶ 37.) Plaintiffs assert USHW provided the Questionnaire to every PEPO Examinee. (ER-85, ¶ 89.)

Plaintiff Raines refused to answer one of the questions on the Questionnaire. (ER-77, ¶¶ 52-53.) Front Porch then told her it was revoking her employment offer because Raines had refused to answer that question. (ER-77, ¶54.) Front Porch's Human Resources manager advised Raines that all Front Porch job applicants, including the manager herself, had to answer the same questions that USHW had asked of Raines. (ER-77, ¶ 55.)

Plaintiff Figg completed the PEPO Exam, and commenced employment with San Ramon. (ER-78, ¶ 62.)

D. Procedural History

In October 2018, Plaintiff Raines filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court, County of San Diego, against Front Porch, USHW, and other Defendants alleging violations of FEHA, the Unruh Act, the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, and intrusion into private affairs. (ER-64, 68, 113.) Subsequently, she dismissed the FEHA claims against USHW and other nonemploying Defendants. However, in May 2019, she reasserted the

-16-

claims against USHW and the other non-employing Defendants in a First Amended Complaint and added class claims. Defendants then removed the action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). (ER-113.)

Raines settled her claims against Front Porch, and in January 2020, dismissed Front Porch. (ER-109.) The following month, she filed a Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), in which Plaintiff Figg joined. (ER-108.) The SAC named additional nonemploying Defendants but Figg did not name his employer, San Ramon. (ER-5, 108.) The SAC asserted claims for violations of FEHA, the Unruh Act and the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), and a claim for intrusion upon seclusion. (*Ibid.*)

The district court dismissed the SAC for failure to state a claim, but granted Plaintiffs leave to amend. (ER-5, 95-98.)

In August 2020, Plaintiffs filed the operative Third Amended Complaint ("TAC"), alleging the same claims. (ER-64-94.) The district court dismissed all claims in the TAC except the UCL claim, without leave to amend. (ER-3-21.) With regard to the FEHA claim, the district court explained that the "purpose of FEHA's 'agent' language, Cal. Gov't Code § 12926(d), is to hold

-17-

employers—the entities which actually employ individuals liable for discriminatory actions of their agents." (ER-10.) Under the reasoning from *Reno* and *Jones*, "FEHA liability would not extend to USHW as an agent, regardless of whether it is a large business or an individual supervisor." (ER-10.) The "fact that 'the employer is liable via the respondeat superior effect of the "agent" language provides protection to employees even if [the agents] are not personally liable." (ER-11-12.) "USHW may not be held liable as an agent of Plaintiffs' employers as a matter of law under FEHA." (ER-12.)

Plaintiffs dismissed the UCL claim and appealed to the Ninth Circuit. (ER-22-25, 99-100.) The Ninth Circuit certified the FEHA question that this Court has accepted for review.²

V. ARGUMENT

A. Agents of an Employer who did not Employ the Plaintiffs are not Directly Liable Under the FEHA

FEHA's language defining an "employer" to include "any person acting as an agent of an employer" does not distinguish between a "person" that is a business entity and a "person" that

² Because this Court has accepted review of only the FEHA claim, we do not discuss plaintiffs' other causes of action further.

is an individual. Rather, as noted, the FEHA defines a "person" as "one or more individuals, partnerships, associations, corporations, limited liability companies, legal representatives, trustees, trustees in bankruptcy, and receivers or other fiduciaries." (Gov. Code, § 12925, subd. (d).) This text does not permit different treatment for individuals or entities.

Thus, there is no textual support in the FEHA for Plaintiffs' proposal to hold a business entity "person" directly liable as a "person acting as an agent of an employer," notwithstanding this Court's holding in *Reno* that the identical language does not permit direct liability against an individual "person" who acts as an agent of an employer. Plaintiffs' proposed distinction rewrites the statute to create a distinction that the Legislature has not seen fit to add in the decades since this Court's 1998 decision in *Reno*. Moreover, in those decades, no California appellate court has held that an entity-agent is directly liable under the FEHA. As Defendants now explain, there are sound reasons for leaving this issue to the Legislature and not rewriting the statute in the manner plaintiffs propose.

1. The Reasoning in *Reno* and *Jones* Applies to All Agents – Individuals and Entities

a. Reasoning in Reno

In *Reno*, this Court noted *Janken v. GM Hughes Electronics* (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 55 had identified two alternative constructions for why the FEHA has defined an "employer" to include a "person acting as an agent of the employer":

"One construction is that argued for by plaintiffs here: that by this language the Legislature intended to define every supervisory employee in California as an 'employer,' and hence place each at risk of personal liability whenever he or she makes a personnel decision which could later be considered discriminatory. The other construction is the one widely accepted around the country: that by the inclusion of the 'agent' language the Legislature intended only to ensure that *employers* will be held liable if their supervisory employees take actions later found discriminatory, and that *employers* cannot avoid liability by arguing that a supervisor failed to follow instructions or deviated from the employer's policy."

(*Reno, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at p. 647, quoting *Janken*, at pp. 65-66.) In adopting the latter construction, this Court provided reasons that also apply to entity-agents.

-20-

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